TOQUAHT NATION GOVERNMENT

Enacted under the Administration of Justice Act section 13.1

OFFENCE PENALTY REGULATION

TNR 3/2025



This regulation enacted on May 22, 2025

Signed Line Mack

Anne Mack, ha?wił of the Toquaht Nation

DEPOSITED IN THE REGISTRY OF LAWS AND OFFICIAL RECORDS

on 2025/05/23

Signature of Law Clerk

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS	5
Short title Application Definitions	5
PART 2 - PENALTIES AND DISCOUNTED PENALTIES	
Penalties and discounted penalties	
SCHEDULE 1-1 ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE ACT	
SCHEDULE 1-2 BUILDING AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORIZATION ACT	
SCHEDULE 1-3 BUSINESS LICENSING ACT	
SCHEDULE 1-4 CITIZENSHIP ACT	17
SCHEDULE 1-5 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ACT	19
SCHEDULE 1-6 ELECTIONS ACT	21
SCHEDULE 1-7 EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS ACT	25
SCHEDULE 1-8 ENFORCEMENT STANDARDS REGULATION (ADRA)	29
SCHEDULE 1-9 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT	
SCHEDULE 1-10 FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION ACT	35
SCHEDULE 1-11 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT	37
SCHEDULE 1-12 HOUSING ACT AND REGULATIONS	39
SCHEDULE 1-13 INTEGRITY ACT	41
SCHEDULE 1-14 LAND ACT	43
SCHEDULE 1-15 MACOAH ZONING AND STRUCTURES ACT	45
SCHEDULE 1-16 PLANNING AND LAND USE MANAGEMENT ACT	49
SCHEDULE 1-17 PUBLIC ORDER, PEACE AND SAFETY ACT	51
SCHEDULE 1-18 PUBLIC WORKS AND SERVICES ACT	53
SCHEDULE 1-19 REAL PROPERTY TAX ACT	55
SCHEDULE 1-20 REFERENDUM ACT	57
SCHEDULE 1-21 RESOURCES HARVESTING ACT AND REGULATIONS	59
SCHEDULE 1-22 TRESPASS AND COMMUNITY SAFETY ACT	65

PART 1 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS

Short title

1.1 This regulation may be cited as the Offence Penalty Regulation, TNR 3/2025.

Application

1.2 This regulation prescribes, for the purposes of section 10.4(a) of the Act, penalties and discounted penalties in respect of various offences.

Definitions

1.3 In this regulation,

"Act" means the Administration of Justice Act, TNS 6/2024.

PART 2 - PENALTIES AND DISCOUNTED PENALTIES

Penalties and discounted penalties

- **2.1** (a) For each offence listed in Column A of Schedule 1 and described in Column 2 of Schedule 1,
 - (i) Column C of Schedule 1 prescribes the penalty, and
 - (ii) Column D of Schedule 1 prescribes the discounted penalty.
 - (b) The notes listed in Schedule 1 are included for reference purposes only and do not form part of the regulation.

SCHEDULE 1-1 ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Administr	ation of Justice Act TNS 6/2024		
2.7	Fail to comply with compliance notice, violation ticket or directive	\$500	\$375
3.9(a)	Destroy or alter a record	\$300	\$250
3.9(b)	Provide false or misleading information to officer	\$375	\$300
3.9(c)	Refuse entry to officer	\$300	\$250
3.9(d)	Obstruct or hinder an officer	\$300	\$250

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-2 BUILDING AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORIZATION ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Building ar	nd Development Authorization Act TNS 2/2013		
3.1(a)	Construction work without authorization	\$300	\$250
3.1(b)	Plumbing work without authorization	\$300	\$250
4.1(a)	Owner fails to obtain work authorization	\$300	\$250
4.1(c)(i)	Fail to erect and maintain signage	\$125	\$100
4.1(c)(ii)	Fail to post or maintain visible authorization	\$125	\$100
4.1(c)(iii)	Fail to keep approved plans at site	\$125	\$100
4.1(c)(v)	Fail to erect signage with required information	\$125	\$100
4.1(c)(vii)	Fail to provide toilet facilities	\$125	\$100
4.1(c)(viii)	Fail to secure site	\$300	\$250
4.1(c)(ix)	Fail to erect and maintain a fence (major construction)	\$300	\$250
4.1(c)(x)	Fail to erect and maintain a fence (standard construction)	\$250	\$200
4.1(c)(xi)	Fail to use dust control measures	\$300	\$250
4.1(c)(xii)	Fail to contain, remove or dispose of materials	\$300	\$250
4.1(c)(xiii)	Fail to undertake health and safety measures	\$300	\$250
4.4(a)	Fail to erect pool enclosure	\$300	\$250
4.4(b)	Fail to maintain pool enclosure	\$300	\$250
4.4(c)	Fail to arrange adequate pool plumbing	\$300	\$250
4.4(d)	Fail to drain pool wastewater to sewer system	\$300	\$250
4.5(a)	Fail to install fire suppression in new multi-unit dwellings	\$300	\$250
4.5(b)	Fail to install fire suppression in expanded multi-unit dwellings	\$300	\$250

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
4.5(c)	Fail to install fire suppression in portable classroom or auto body shop	\$300	\$250
4.5(d)	Fail to install fire suppression in single unit dwelling without adequate water	\$300	\$250
4.6(b)	Unauthorized building movement	\$300	\$250
4.6(f)	Fail to leave site in a safe and sanitary condition	\$300	\$250
4.6(f)	Fail to arrange inspection	\$125	\$100
5.1(a)	Unauthorized work	\$300	\$250
5.1(b)	Unauthorized occupation before final occupancy report	\$300	\$250
5.1(c)	Unauthorized use before occupancy certificate issued	\$300	\$250
5.1(d)	Provide false or misleading information	\$300	\$250
5.1(e)	Tamper with notice, authorization or certificate	\$300	\$250
5.1(f)	Work contrary to authorization or approved plans	\$300	\$250
5.1(g)	Obstruct entry of Toquaht official or enforcement officer	\$300	\$250
5.1(i)	Work despite suspended or revoked authorization or stop work notice	\$500	\$375
5.3(b)	Occupation with no occupancy notice	\$300	\$250
5.4(b)	Work despite stop work notice	\$500	\$375

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).

• A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-3 BUSINESS LICENSING ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Business I	Licensing Act TNS 9/2014		
2.1(a)*	Carrying on a business without licence	\$500	\$250
2.1(b)	Fail to clearly post business licence	\$50	\$25
2.1(c)**	Carrying on a business while licence suspended	\$500	\$250
3.1(c)	Carrying on a business on public property without approval	\$250	\$125
3.1(d)	Advertising business without valid business licence	\$250	\$125
3.2(c)	Exceed authorized number of businesses in single residential unit	\$200	\$100
3.2(e)	Exceed authorized number of individuals at home business	\$100	\$50
3.2(f)	Home business causing nuisance	\$100	\$50
3.2(g)	Unauthorized storage of business materials outside of home	\$100	\$50
3.2(h)	Home business exceeds prescribed floor area	\$100	\$50
3.3(a)	Unauthorized tour or charter operation	\$500	\$250
3.4(b)	Providing commercial accommodation in a residential unit while not ordinarily resident	\$500	\$250
3.5(c)	Fail to clearly post business licence (street vendor)	\$50	\$25
3.5(d)	Fail to display name and address on both sides of vehicle	\$50	\$25
3.5(e)	Fail to have lawful weight or measuring scale	\$250	\$125
3.6(c)	Allow unlicensed street vendor at market	\$50	\$25

- * A person who contravenes section 2.1(a) is liable to a fine not exceeding \$500 per day for each day the offence continues up to a maximum of \$5,000 (see: s. 4.3(a)).
- ** A person who contravenes section 2.1(c) is liable to a fine not exceeding \$1,000 per day for each day the offence continues up to a maximum of \$5,000 (see: s. 4.3(b)).
- On a second or subsequent conviction for an offence under 2.1(a) or 2.1(c), the maximum fine is doubled (see: s. 4.4).
- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-4 CITIZENSHIP ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Citizenship	Act TNS 10/2011		
9.4	False representation to gain citizenship	\$375	\$300

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-5 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Economic	Development Act TNS 3/2012		
3.1(b)	Fail to follow required business mandates	\$500	\$400
5.2	Interfere with operational decision of business	\$350	\$300
5.3	Act as unauthorized trustee or partner	\$350	\$300
6.2(b)	Director or officer knowingly authorizes action beyond mandate	\$500	\$400

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-6 ELECTIONS ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Elections A	ct TNS 1/2014		
14.1(a)	Campaign within 100m of chief electoral officer's office	\$125	\$100
14.1(b)(i)	Campaign within 100m of voting place	\$125	\$100
14.1(b)(ii)	Solicit votes within 100m of voting place	\$250	\$200
14.1(b)(iii)	Carry or wear item to influence support	\$100	\$75
14.1(b)(iv)	Display sample ballot marked for a candidate or choice	\$100	\$75
14.1(d)	Campaign using PA system within hearing distance of voting place	\$125	\$100
14.2(a)	Provide inducement to vote or refrain from voting	\$250	\$200
14.2(b)	Accept inducement to vote or refrain from voting	\$250	\$200
14.2(c)	Take, sell, use or assign another's PIN	\$250	\$200
14.3(a)	Intimidate individual from voting	\$250	\$200
14.3(b)	Interfere with individual voting	\$250	\$250
14.4(a)(i)	Interfere with electronic vote	\$250	\$200
14.4(a)(ii)	Interfere with electronic voting system	\$250	\$200
14.5(a)	Vote in an election when not entitled to do so	\$250	\$200
14.5(b)	Vote on more than one occasion in an election	\$250	\$200
14.5(c)	Apply for more than one mail-in ballot	\$250	\$200
14.5(d)	Fail to mark ballot in accordance with instructions	\$250	\$200
14.5(e)	Obtain a ballot in another individual's name	\$250	\$200
14.7(a)	Withdraw candidate without authority	\$300	\$200

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Elections A	ct TNS 1/2014		
14.7(b)	Issue false statement that candidate has withdrawn	\$250	\$200
14.8(a)	Unauthorized supply of ballot to another person	\$200	\$150
14.8(b)	Unauthorized reproduction of ballot	\$200	\$150
14.8(c)	Remove ballot from voting place	\$200	\$150
14.8(d)	Deposit non-ballot item in ballot box	\$150	\$100
14.8(e)	Destroy voting materials	\$200	\$150
14.9(a)	Interfere or attempt to interfere with marking of ballot	\$250	\$200
14.9(b)	Unauthorized attendance during ballot counting	\$200	\$150
14.9(c)	Remove, cover up or alter notice without lawful authority	\$75	\$50
14.10(a)	False representation as electoral officer	\$250	\$200
14.10(b)	Accept electoral officer appointment when unqualified	\$150	\$100
14.10(c)	Electoral officer abuses powers or duties	\$250	\$200
14.10(d)	Impede or obstruct electoral officer in performing duties	\$250	\$200
14.11	Provide false or misleading information	\$250	\$200

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).

• A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-7 EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS ACT

A Provisio n	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounte d Penalty
Emergency P	Preparedness Act TNS 5/2020		
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement for an emerg disaster	ency, health l	nazard or
3.4(a)	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement for the provis	sion of assista	nnce
2.4(.)('')	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
3.4(a)(ii)	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement that controls or prohibits travel		
2.4(.)(;;;)	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
3.4(a)(iii)	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement for evacuation or care		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
3.4(a)(iv)	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement for the provis	sion of quarar	ntine facility
3.4(a)(v)	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500

A Provisio n	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounte d Penalty
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement for detention	and quaranti	ne
2.4(a)(vi)	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
3.4(a)(vi)	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive requirement for complian	ce with an ord	der
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
3.4(a)(xiii)	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Fail to comply with Executive Order requiring the provision of assistance		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
3.5	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900
	Interfere with or obstruct the exercise or performance of	a power or do	ıty
4.2(b)	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$250
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$500
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,000	\$900

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable

TOQUAHT NATION GOVERNMENT OFFENCE PENALTY REGULATION TNR 3/2025

to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).

• A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-8 ENFORCEMENT STANDARDS REGULATION (ADRA)

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Enforceme	ent Standards Regulation (ADRA) TNR 04/2014		
2.2(a)	Officer acts in disorderly manner	\$500	\$400
2.2(b)	Officer acts oppressively or abusively	\$500	\$450
2.2(c)	Officer contravenes Toquaht law	\$500	\$450
2.2(d)	Officer withholds or suppresses a complaint	\$500	\$450
2.2(e)	Officer fails to report	\$300	\$250
2.2(f)	Officer suppresses or tampers information	\$500	\$450
2.3	Officer neglects duties	\$500	\$400
2.4(a)	Officer makes false statement	\$500	\$450
2.4(b)	Officer falsifies records	\$500	\$450
2.5(a)	Officer improperly discloses information	\$500	\$450
2.5(b)	Officer circulates petition with false information	\$300	\$250
2.6(a)	Officer fails to account for property in course of duty	\$300	\$250
2.6(b)	Officer accepts obligation affecting performance	\$500	\$450
2.6(c)	Officer uses authority for personal gain	\$500	\$450
2.7(a)	Officer arrests, detains or searches without sufficient cause	\$500	\$450
2.7(b)	Officer uses unnecessary force	\$500	\$450
2.7(c)	Officer is discourteous, uncivil or verbally abusive	\$500	\$450
2.7(d)	Officer retaliates against reporting person	\$500	\$450
2.8	Officer improperly uses or cares for a firearm	\$500	\$450
2.9(a)	Officer damages Nation property or entrusted property	\$300	\$250
2.9(b)	Officer fails to report any damage to Nation property	\$300	\$250

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
2.10(a)	Officer unfit for duty due to intoxication	\$500	\$450
2.10(b)	Officer uses or receives intoxicating substance while on duty	\$500	\$450
2.12(a)	Officer asserts authority while off duty	\$500	\$400
2.12(b)	Officer acts discreditable manner while off duty	\$500	\$400
2.13	Officer aids or abets misconduct	\$500	\$450
2.14	Officer recklessly commits an act or omission	\$500	\$450
4.1(a)(i)	Obstruct director, Review Board or others in their duties	\$500	\$400
4.1(a)(ii)	Fail to comply with requirement of director, Review Board or other	\$500	\$400
4.1(a)(iii)	Provide false or misleading information	\$500	\$450
4.1(b)	Fail to comply with director's order	\$500	\$400

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-9 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty		
Environmental Protection Act TNS 15/2011					
2.1(b)	Introduce contaminants through prescribed industry	\$1,100	\$750		
2.1(c)	Introduce contaminants through prescribed activity	\$1,100	\$750		
2.1(d)	Introduce contaminants and cause pollution	\$1,100	\$750		
2.3(b)	Unauthorized release of contaminants	\$625	\$500		
2.4	Unauthorized operation of contaminants facility	\$625	\$500		
2.5(a)	Unlawful storage of contaminants	\$625	\$500		
2.5(c)	Fail to comply with Order	\$625	\$500		
2.6(a)	Allows excess contaminants to leave property	\$625	\$500		
2.6(b)	Transport of contaminants in excess of prescribed quantity	\$625	\$500		
2.6(c)(i)	Accept delivery without manifest	\$625	\$500		
2.6(c)(ii)	Fail to complete manifest	\$625	\$500		
2.6(c)(iii)	Receive unauthorized contaminants	\$625	\$500		
2.8(b)	Discharge litter in a public place	\$125	\$100		
2.9	Discharge of waste from recreational vehicle	\$250	\$200		
3.1(a)	Fail to report discharge	\$625	\$500		
3.1(b)	Fail to take measures to stop or eliminate discharge	\$625	\$500		
3.1(c)	Fail to notify public of the discharge	\$625	\$500		
3.2	Fail to comply with protection order	\$625	\$500		
4.2	Allow land to become unsightly	\$125	\$100		
4.3	Fail to comply with directive	\$625	\$500		

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
5.9(h)	Knowingly reduce assets to satisfy remediation order	\$625	\$500
5.9(o)	Hinder authorized person from entering Toquaht lands	\$300	\$250
5.11(e)	Fail to comply with Order	\$625	\$500
6.5(c)(ii)	Permit holder fails to pay money owing	\$300	\$250
6.5(c)(iii)	Permit holder fails to comply with permit	\$300	\$250
6.5(c)(iv)	Permit holder fails to comply with order	\$300	\$250
6.5(c)(v)	Material misstatement in permit application	\$300	\$250
8.4	Provide false information or make false statements	\$300	\$250
9.1(a)(ii)	Fail to comply with Order to remedy damage	\$625	\$500
9.1(b)(i)	Fail to comply with Order to improve land	\$625	\$500
9.1(b)(ii)	Fail to comply with directive	\$625	\$500
9.1(c)	Fail to comply with permit	\$625	\$500
10.4(c)	Fail to stop vehicle as directed by inspector	\$300	\$250
10.5(g)	Fail to provide assistance to inspector	\$300	\$250

• If a person

- o contravenes section 2.1, or
- o fails to comply with an order under sections 3.3 or 3.5,

the fine may not exceed:

- o \$100,000, if it is a first offence and committed negligently, or
- o \$200,000, if it is a first offence and committed knowingly.

For each subsequent offence, the fine may not exceed \$300,000 (see: s. 9(a)).

TOQUAHT NATION GOVERNMENT OFFENCE PENALTY REGULATION TNR 3/2025

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-10 FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty		
Financial Administration Act TNS 6/2011					
4.7(a)	Unauthorized amendment to budget	\$500	\$400		
6.1	Unauthorized money transfer from account	\$500	\$400		
6.2(a)	Unauthorized transfer from trust account or tangible capital asset reserve account	\$500	\$400		
6.8	Enter agreement requiring unauthorized expenditure	\$500	\$400		
7.1	Unauthorized investment of account funds	\$500	\$400		
7.2	Unauthorized investment of trust account funds	\$500	\$400		
9.8(c)(i)	Refuse to answer auditor's questions	\$300	\$250		
9.8(c)(ii)	Make false statement or conceal material fact from auditor	\$300	\$250		
9.8(c)(iii)	Refuse to provide auditor access to financial records	\$300	\$250		

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-11 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty		
Freedom o	Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act TNS 11/2011				
5.3(a)(i)	Make false statement to or mislead an individual	\$300	\$250		
5.3(a)(ii)	Obstruct individual in their duties	\$300	\$250		

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-12 HOUSING ACT AND REGULATIONS

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounted Penalty
Housing Ac	et TNS 1/2019		
8.1(c)	Occupation of Toquaht social housing prior to resolution of review request	\$300	\$250
8.6	Unauthorized use of Toquaht housing for non-residential purposes	\$375	\$300
8.7	Unauthorized assignment, sublet or transfer of Toquaht housing	\$375	\$300
8.9	Unauthorized alteration to Toquaht housing	\$300	\$250
8.10	Allow Toquaht housing to become unsightly	\$125	\$100
8.14(a)	Tenant fails to vacate housing	\$300	\$250
8.14(b)(i)	Vacated housing left unclean or damaged	\$125	\$100
8.14(b)(i)	Keys for vacated housing not returned	\$125	\$100
9.5(e)	Fail to give up possession of family home	\$300	\$250
9.7(a)	Interference with spousal tenancy	\$300	\$250
12.3	False representation, fraud or concealing material fact	\$375	\$300
Housing Regulation, TNR 4/2019			
4.6	Unauthorized pet	\$375	\$300
4.15	Pet chained or left unattended	\$125	\$100
4.16	Waste improperly disposed	\$125	\$100

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).

•	A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a
	penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-13 INTEGRITY ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Integrity A	Act TNS 4/2011		
2.2	Perform an official duty to further private interests	\$625	\$500
2.3(a)	Use confidential information to further private interests	\$625	\$500
2.3(b)	Share confidential information to further private interests	\$625	\$500
2.4	Use position to influence and further private interests	\$625	\$500
2.5	Accept gifts or personal benefits	\$500	\$400
3.1(a)	Fail to disclose conflict of interest or withdraw	\$350	\$300
4.1	Fail to file private interest disclosure statement	\$350	\$300
4.3	Fail to file supplemental disclosure statement	\$350	\$300
4.4	Fail to deliver gift or personal benefit	\$350	\$300

- If an offence is found under this Act, the respondent must not be required to pay a fine of more than \$5,000 (see: s. 6.5(e)).
- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-14 LAND ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty	
Land Act T	Land Act TNS 12/2011			
4.23(a)	Unauthorized disposal of interest in Toquaht lands	\$300	\$250	
11.10(a)	Unauthorized subdivision of Toquaht lands	\$300	\$250	
11.36(a)	Fail to comply with directive	\$500	\$375	

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-15 MACOAH ZONING AND STRUCTURES ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Macoah Zo	ning and Structures Act TNS 4/2018		
2.3(a)	Unpermitted use of land or buildings	\$500	\$400
2.3(b)	Unpermitted building or structure	\$500	\$400
2.5(a)	Exceed one building per lot	\$500	\$400
2.6(a)	Primary building in yard	\$500	\$400
2.6(b)	Secondary building in front or side yard	\$500	\$400
2.6(c)	Building within boundaries of watercourse	\$500	\$400
2.8(c)	Secondary building contains unauthorized dwelling	\$500	\$400
2.9(b)	Secondary building on yard	\$500	\$400
2.9(c)	Secondary building exceeds authorized height	\$500	\$400
2.12(a)(i)	B&B - exceed amount of authorized guests	\$300	\$250
2.12(a)(ii)	B&B - exceed amount of authorized sleeping units	\$300	\$250
2.12(a)(iii)	B&B – cooking facilities in sleeping unit	\$250	\$200
2.12(a)(v)	B&B - multiple sleeping units in single family dwelling with secondary suite	\$250	\$200
2.13(b)(i)	Home business not run by homeowner	\$300	\$250
2.13(b)(ii)	Home business exceeds authorized floor area	\$250	\$200
2.13(b)(iii)	Home business not in primary or secondary dwelling	\$250	\$200
2.13(c)	Exceed authorized amount of people working in home occupation	\$250	\$200
2.13(d)	Unauthorized alterations made to primary building	\$500	\$400
2.13(e)	Home business produces nuisance	\$300	\$250
2.13(f)	Unrelated goods or services sold through home business	\$300	\$250

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
2.14(a)	Exceed caretaker dwellings	\$250	\$200
2.21(a)	Fence or hedge exceeds authorized height	\$200	\$150
2.23(a)	Storage in front yard in institutional zone	\$200	\$150
3.3(b)	Unauthorized use of lot in Zoning District G1	\$500	\$400
6.3(b)	Unauthorized use of lot in Zoning District W1	\$500	\$400
7.3(b)	Unauthorized use of lot in Zoning District W2	\$500	\$400
8.3(b)	Unauthorized use of lot in Zoning District F3	\$500	\$400
9.2(a)	Front yard not landscaped	\$200	\$150
9.2(b)	Invasive species used in landscaping	\$200	\$100
10.5(b)	Loading facility in front yard	\$200	\$150
10.8(c)	Off-street parking space leased or rented	\$200	\$150
10.9(a)	Parking in front yard	\$200	\$150
11.3(a)	Unauthorized construction, display or alteration of sign	\$200	\$100
11.8	Exceeds authorized advertising signs	\$200	\$100
11.9	Prohibited sign	\$200	\$100

- If a person contravenes this Act, or a condition imposed by the Review Board, they are liable for a fine not exceeding \$1,000, per day, for each day the offence continues up to a total of \$5,000. The maximum fine for a second or subsequent conviction is \$10,000 (see: s. 13.3).
- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).

• A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-16 PLANNING AND LAND USE MANAGEMENT ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Planning a	and Land Use Management Act TNS 13/2011		
5.2(a)	Unpermitted construction or alteration of building	\$750	\$500
5.6(h)	Fail to comply with undertakings to demolish building and restore area	\$500	\$400
5.8(d)	Damage to environment because of permit breach	\$1,000	\$800

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-17 PUBLIC ORDER, PEACE AND SAFETY ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Public Ore	der, Peace and Safety Act TNS 2/2014		
2.1	Cause or permit a disturbance	\$125	\$100
2.2	Allow an animal to cause a disturbance	\$125	\$100
2.3	Landscape equipment used outside prescribed hours	\$125	\$100
2.4	Construction outside prescribed hours	\$125	\$100
3.1	Commit disorderly conduct	\$250	\$200
3.2	Commit or attempt to commit vandalism of public property	\$300	\$250
3.3	Public bodily discharge	\$125	\$100
4.2	Failing to ensure no drug activity on property	\$375	\$300
5.3(a)	Failing to obey traffic control device	\$250	\$200
5.3(b)	Tampering with a traffic control device	\$250	\$200
5.4(c)	Operating a vehicle at speed exceeding allowed speed	\$250	\$200
5.5(a)	Parking a vehicle where prohibited	\$75	\$50
5.6(b)	Operating vehicle that exceeds weight limit	\$250	\$200
5.7(d)	Fail to comply with temporary heavy vehicle permit	\$250	\$200
5.7(e)	Fail to carry or produce temporary heavy vehicle permit	\$250	\$200
5.8(a)	Littering from a vehicle on a highway	\$125	\$100
5.8(b)	Obstructing or damaging a highway	\$250	\$200
5.11(a)	Operating vehicle without valid licence, registration or insurance	\$300	\$250
5.11(b)	Fail to produce valid licence, registration and insurance	\$300	\$250
5.12	Dangerous operation of a vehicle	\$375	\$300

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
5.13	Failing to stop when directed by an enforcement officer	\$300	\$250
5.14	Obstruct road with vehicle	\$300	\$250
6.1	Possession or control of dog without valid licence	\$100	\$50
6.6(b)	Fail to keep on dog tag and collar	\$50	\$25
6.6(c)	Removal of dog tag or collar	\$50	\$25
6.7(b)	Transferring dog tag to another dog	\$100	\$50
6.8(a)	Fail to note change of dog ownership	\$100	\$50
6.9(b)	Fail to obtain dog licence after four weeks	\$100	\$50
6.10	Exceed authorized limit of dogs or cats	\$200	\$100
6.11	Dog at large	\$100	\$50
6.12	Dangerous dog unsecured or improperly lead	\$500	\$250
6.13	Not cleaning up after dog	\$50	\$25
6.14	Keeping a sick animal out of isolation	\$200	\$100
6.15	Keep, trade or sell a wild animal as pet	\$500	\$250
6.16	Improper animal care	\$200	\$100

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-18 PUBLIC WORKS AND SERVICES ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Public Wo	rks and Services Act TNS 4/2018		
2.20(a)	Unauthorized connection to Toquaht sewer	\$750	\$600
2.20(b)	Unauthorized discharge into Toquaht sewer	\$625	\$500
2.20(c)	Discharge of external sewage into Toquaht sewer	\$625	\$500
2.20(d)	Discharge of substance to dilute industrial sewage in Toquaht sewer	\$625	\$500
2.20(e)	Unauthorized discharge into Toquaht storm sewer	\$625	\$500
2.20(f)	Discharge sewage outside of Toquaht sewer	\$625	\$500
2.20(g)	Discharge recreational vehicle sewage outside dump station	\$625	\$500
2.20(h)	Obstruct access to Toquaht sewer	\$400	\$300
2.20(i)	Damage Toquaht sewer	\$750	\$600
2.20(j)	Provide false or incomplete information to Toquaht official	\$300	\$250
2.22(a)	Fail to protect environment, public health or property	\$750	\$600
3.12(a)	Unauthorized person works on Toquaht water system	\$300	\$250
3.12(b)	Unauthorized use of curb valve, hydrant or standpipe	\$300	\$250
3.17	Owner fails to disconnect building from Toquaht water	\$500	\$400
3.19(a)	Unauthorized connection to Toquaht water	\$750	\$600
3.19(b)	Sell Toquaht water	\$750	\$600
3.19(c)	Unauthorized transport of Toquaht water	\$300	\$250
3.19(d)	Waste water from Toquaht sewer	\$500	\$400
3.19(e)	Discharge harmful substances into Toquaht water	\$625	\$500

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
3.19(f)	Obstruct access to Toquaht water	\$400	\$300
3.19(g)	Damage Toquaht water system	\$750	\$600
3.19(h)	Provide false information to Toquaht official	\$300	\$250
3.20(b)	Interfere with or obstruct the director	\$500	\$400
4.9(a)	Deposit non-garbage in garbage bin	\$200	\$150
4.9(b)	Deposit non-recyclables in recycling bin	\$200	\$150
4.9(c)	Prohibited material in garbage or recycling bin	\$200	\$150
4.9(d)	Damage garbage or recycling bin	\$150	\$100
4.9(e)	Deposit non-public waste in public bins	\$200	\$150

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: s. 6.4(a); *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-19 REAL PROPERTY TAX ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty	
Real Prop	Real Property Tax Act TNS 18/2011			
7.5(b)	Fail to provide information in timely manner	\$250	\$200	
8.2	Fail to pay taxes	\$500	\$400	

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-20 REFERENDUM ACT

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Referendun	1 Act TNS 9/2011		
10.2	Campaign within 100m of chief electoral officer's office	\$125	\$100
10.2	Campaign within 100m of voting place	\$125	\$100
10.2	Solicit votes within 100m of voting place	\$250	\$200
10.2	Use PA system within hearing distance of voting place	\$125	\$100
10.2	Inducement to vote or refrain from voting	\$250	\$200
10.2	Accept inducement to vote or refrain from voting	\$250	\$200
10.2	Intimidate individual to vote or refrain from voting	\$250	\$200
10.2	Interfere or attempt to interfere with casting of electronic vote	\$250	\$200
10.2	Interfere or attempt to interfere with electronic voting system	\$250	\$200
10.2	Vote when not entitled to do so	\$250	\$200
10.2	Vote on more than one occasion	\$250	\$200
10.2	Fail to mark ballot in accordance with voter's instructions	\$250	\$200
10.2	Interfere or attempt to interfere with marking of ballot	\$250	\$200
10.2	Remove, cover up or alter notice without lawful authority	\$75	\$50
10.2	False representation as electoral officer	\$250	\$200
10.2	Impede or obstruct electoral officer in performance of duties	\$250	\$200
10.2	Provide false or misleading information	\$250	\$200

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-21 RESOURCES HARVESTING ACT AND REGULATIONS

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
Resources H	Iarvesting Act TNS 14/2011		
2.1	Fail to harvest resources in accordance with law	\$750	\$600
2.2(a)	Harvest fish or aquatic plants without valid documentation	\$300	\$250
2.2(b)	Fish commercial fishing licence without valid documentation	\$625	\$500
2.2(c)	Unauthorized transport of fish or aquatic plants harvested outside of the domestic fishing area	\$250	\$200
2.2(d)	Unauthorized transport of fish or aquatic plants by non- Toquaht enrollee	\$250	\$200
2.3(a)	Harvest wildlife or migratory birds without valid documentation	\$300	\$250
2.3(b)	Person under 18 harvesting wildlife or migratory birds without valid documentation or supervision	\$300	\$250
2.4(a)	Harvest renewable resources in federal protected area without valid documentation	\$300	\$250
2.4(b)	Harvest plants in provincial protected area without valid documentation	\$300	\$250
2.8(d)	Fail to produce valid harvesting documentation	\$300	\$250
2.9(c)	Fail to surrender harvesting documentation	\$300	\$250
2.11	Harvesting with suspended or revoked harvesting documentation	\$375	\$300
3.1(a)	Unauthorized sale of fish or aquatic plants	\$500	\$375
3.2(a)	Unauthorized sale of wildlife or wildlife parts	\$500	\$375
3.3(a)	Unauthorized sale of migratory birds	\$500	\$375
3.3(b)	Unauthorized sale of byproducts of migratory birds	\$500	\$375

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
3.4	Transport of plants or resources contrary to laws	\$250	\$200
4.1(b)	Unauthorized trade or barter of fish or aquatic plants	\$500	\$375
4.1(c)	Unauthorized transport of fish or aquatic plants for trade or barter	\$250	\$200
4.2(c)	Unauthorized trade or barter of wildlife or migratory birds	\$500	\$375
4.2(d)	Unauthorized transport of wildlife or migratory birds for trade or barter	\$250	\$200
4.3(c)	Unauthorized trade or barter of renewables	\$500	\$375
4.3(d)	Unauthorized transport of renewables for trade or barter	\$250	\$200
4.4(c)	Unauthorized exchange of objects made from renewables	\$500	\$375
8.1(a)	Obstruct resource management officer	\$300	\$250
8.1(b)	Fail to comply with Order	\$500	\$375
8.1(c)	Fail to comply with harvesting documentation	\$500	\$375
Fisheries R	egulation TNR 5/2011		
3.4(c)	Fail to surrender fishing authorization after unenrollment	\$300	\$250
3.4(d)	Fail to surrender cancelled or suspended fishing authorization	\$300	\$250
3.7(b)	Fail to surrender fishing authorization issued in error	\$300	\$250
3.9(a)	Fail to surrender suspended fishing authorization	\$300	\$250
3.9(b)	Fishing while suspended	\$375	\$300
3.10	Fail to present Toquaht fishing authorization	\$300	\$250
3.11(a)(i)	Alter or deface fishing authorization	\$375	\$300

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
3.11(a)(ii)	Use or produce altered or defaced fishing authorization	\$375	\$300
3.11(a)(iii)	Use or produce fishing authorization issued to another	\$375	\$300
3.11(a)(iv)	Use fishing authorization that has been replaced	\$300	\$250
3.11(b)	Allow another person to use fishing authorization	\$300	\$250
4.1(a)	Fish with undesignated vessel	\$375	\$300
4.1(c)	Fail to display Toquaht Nation decal or flag on vessel	\$250	\$200
4.2	Fail to mark gear with fishing authorization number	\$250	\$200
4.3	Fish with prohibited gear	\$375	\$300
4.4(a)	Fail to release incidental catch in least harmful manner	\$250	\$200
4.5	Process fish in manner that prevents identification	\$300	\$250
4.6	Fail to report catch records of fish or aquatic plants	\$250	\$200
4.7(b)	Fish during time or in location that are not permitted	\$375	\$300
4.8	Fail to comply with applicable harvest restrictions	\$750	\$600
5.2(c)	Alter or deface transportation certificate	\$300	\$250
5.2(d)	Fail to produce transportation certificate	\$250	\$200
5.3	Unauthorized harvest outside Toquaht territory	\$375	\$300
Wildlife and	Migratory Birds Regulation TNR 7/2011		
3.4(b)	Fail to surrender hunting documentation after unenrollment	\$300	\$250
3.4(c)	Fail to surrender cancelled or suspended hunting documentation	\$300	\$250

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
3.5(b)	Fail to destroy hunting documentation upon receipt of replacement	\$300	\$250
3.7(b)	Fail to surrender hunting documentation issued in error	\$300	\$250
3.9(a)	Fail to surrender suspended hunting documentation	\$300	\$250
3.11(a)(i)	Alter or deface hunting documentation	\$375	\$300
3.11(a)(ii)	Use or produce altered or defaced hunting documentation	\$375	\$300
3.11(a)(iii)	Use or produce another's hunting documentation	\$375	\$300
3.11(a)(iv)	Use hunting documentation that has been replaced	\$300	\$250
3.11(b)	Allow another person to use hunting documentation	\$300	\$250
4.1	Hunt with unlawful firearm, bow or crossbow	\$375	\$300
4.1(a)(iii)	Hunt with unlawful ammunition	\$375	\$300
4.2(a)	Fail to retrieve wildlife or migratory bird	\$200	\$150
4.2(b)	Fail to report wounded wildlife or migratory bird	\$200	\$150
4.3	Waste edible or usable part of wildlife or migratory bird	\$125	\$100
4.4	Process wildlife or migratory bird to prevent identification	\$300	\$250
4.5(d)	Hunt within 400 metres of occupied dwelling	\$300	\$250
4.5(e)	Hunt tl'unim during prohibited time	\$500	\$375
4.5(g)	Hunt during prohibited time	\$375	\$300
4.6(a)	Hunt tl'unim without tl'unim hunt authorization	\$500	\$375
4.6(e)	Fail to report on tl'unim harvest	\$300	\$250
5.2(d)	Fail to produce transportation certificate	\$250	\$200

A Provision	B Offence	C Penalty Amount	D Discounted Penalty
5.2(c)	Alter or deface transportation certificate	\$300	\$250
5.3	Fail to report on harvest	\$250	\$200
5.4	Trade or barter wildlife harvested under wildlife sharing agreement	\$500	\$375
5.5	Unauthorized harvest outside Toquaht territory	\$375	\$300

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).

SCHEDULE 1-22 TRESPASS AND COMMUNITY SAFETY ACT

A Provisio n	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounte d Penalty
Trespass an	nd Community Safety Act TNS 4/2019		
2.1(a)(i)	Enter onto land that is limited access land		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$100	\$75
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$200	\$150
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$400	\$300
2.1(a)(ii)	Enter onto land after notice that entry is prohibited		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$100	\$75
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$200	\$150
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$400	\$300
2.1(a)(iii)	Engage in an activity after notice that the activity is prohibited		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$100	\$75
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$200	\$150
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$400	\$300
2.1(b)(i)	Fail to leave land or stop an activity after receiving a dire	ection	
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$200	\$175
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$400	\$350
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$800	\$700
2.1(b)(ii)	Re-enter onto land or resume an activity after receiving	a direction	
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$200	\$175
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$400	\$350

A Provisio n	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounte d Penalty
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$800	\$700
2.2(a)(i)	Occupy or possess Toquaht lands without authorization		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(ii)	Damage Toquaht lands or improvements without authori	zation	
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(iii)	Harvest, extract or damage resources on Toquaht lands without authorization		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(iv)	Interfere with the use, occupation or possession of Toqua authorization	aht lands with	nout
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(v) Construct a building, structure, enclosure or work on Toquaht la authorization		quaht lands w	vithout
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550

A Provisio n	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounte d Penalty
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(vi)	Excavate Toquaht lands without authorization		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(vii)	Throw, deposit, dump or place material on Toquaht land	s without aut	horization
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(viii)	Abandon a vehicle or vessel on Toquaht lands without a	uthorization	
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.2(a)(ix)	Interfere with or remove a sign on Toquaht lands withou	t authorizatio	on
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
2.3(e)	Remove, alter or deface a sign prohibiting trespass		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100

A Provisio n	B Offence	C Penalty	D Discounte d Penalty
3.13(c)	Excluded individual fail to provide notice of an acquired	interest or li	cence
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$200	\$175
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$400	\$350
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$800	\$700
6.2(a)	Fail to comply with an exclusion or suspension order		
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$300	\$275
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$600	\$550
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$1,200	\$1,100
6.2(b)	Allow an excluded individual to remain on property in c	ontravention	of an order
	FIRST OFFENCE	\$200	\$175
	SECOND OFFENCE	\$400	\$350
	THIRD AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENCES	\$800	\$700

- If an offence continues for more than one day, a separate penalty may be imposed for each day the offence continues (see: s. 6.3; *Administration of Justice Act*, s. 2.5).
- If a penalty and discounted penalty has not been established for an offence, an enforcement officer may issue a violation ticket with a penalty and discounted penalty that is comparable to the penalty and discounted penalty for a similar offence. That penalty may not exceed \$1,000 (see: Administration of Justice Act, s. 10.4(b)).
- A violation ticket issued to a youth offender (between 12 and 17 years of age) must not impose a penalty greater than \$1,000 (see: *Administration of Justice Act*, 10.4(c)).